RECEIVED

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

MAR 17 2016

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY **SC Court of Appeals**
Court of Common Pleas

Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Case Nos. 2009GS0702636, 2009GS0702637, 2009GS0702639,
2009GS0702594, 2009GS0702595
Appellate Case No. 2013-002394

The State, Respondent,

v.

Earnest Stewart Daise, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT EARNEST STEWART DAISE

Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
A. Mattison Bogan
Phillips L. McWilliams
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 799-2000

Chief Appellate Defender
Robert M. Dudek
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 734-1343

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Was the EMT testimony regarding John Doe 2's responses not only hearsay but did it also violate Appellant's Confrontation Clause rights?
- II. Did the trial court allow a witness for the State to impermissibly comment on the credibility of another witness?
- III. Was the testimony that one of the victims was afraid of Appellant irrelevant, and, therefore, should have been excluded?
- IV. Did the trial court err in failing to require that the Solicitor's office produce materials amounting to a handbook on how to circumvent the requirements of *Batson*, which prevented Appellant from making a viable *Batson* challenge?
- V. Did the trial court err by admitting a photograph of Appellant appearing in a custodial pose because the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed the probative value of the photograph?
- VI. Did the trial court err when it admitted the photograph containing the birthday cake for one of the victims because the photograph impermissibly aroused the passions and prejudices of the jury?
- VII. Did the cumulative errors committed by the trial court have the effect of preventing Appellant from receiving a fair trial, entitling Appellant to a new trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant is currently serving a sentence of life in prison without the possibility of parole plus seventy years following his convictions for two murders, assault and battery with the intent to kill, trafficking of crack cocaine, and possession with intent to distribute marijuana. The Beaufort County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on the charges of murder, assault and battery with the intent to kill, trafficking of crack cocaine, and possession with intent to distribute marijuana. The case was called for trial on October 14, 2013, before the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen. On October 17, 2013, the jury returned a verdict of guilty as to the charges of murder, assault and battery with the intent to kill, trafficking of crack cocaine, and possession with intent to distribute marijuana. (Tr. p. 2519:1-2523:7; R. 2600-2604.) The trial court sentenced Appellant to life in prison without the possibility of parole plus seventy years to be served consecutively. (Tr. p. 3182:19-3183:17; R. 2611-2612.) Appellant timely filed his notice of appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On November 15, 2009, Jeanine Mullen and her four-year old son John Doe 1¹ were found dead in their home located at 20 Player Road, Beaufort, SC. (Tr. p. 1727:3-1728:3; R. 1815-1816.) Two-year old John Doe 2 was also found wounded at the scene and rushed to the hospital for treatment. (Tr. p. 1797:10-1799:5, 1805:10-11; R. 1882-1884, 1890-1892.) While treating John Doe 2 in the ambulance, the emergency medical technicians (“EMTs”) questioned him about who caused his injuries. (Tr. p. 1805:17-1807:18, 1821:8-22; R. 1890-1892, 1906.) John Doe 2 survived. (Tr. p. 1979:3-11; R.

¹ The identity of the children in this matter has been redacted and protected in accordance with the Supreme Court of South Carolina’s Order of April 15, 2014. The children are referred to as John Doe 1 and John Doe 2, respectively.

2064.) During this interrogation, John Doe 2 mumbled something that “sounded like Daddy,” which was relayed to the police. (Tr. p. 1807:2-4; R. 1892.)

Later that evening, Appellant was picked up by the police and questioned about the crime. (Tr. pp. 2252-2266; R. 2337-2353.) While the interrogation of Appellant was ongoing, the police executed a search warrant on the mobile home where Appellant lived and found crack cocaine and marijuana in his room. (Tr. pp. 2136-2161; R. 2221-2246.)

Articles of Appellant’s clothing that were found in his room during the search were sent to SLED for processing. (Tr. p. 2287-2291; R. 2372-2376.) Appellant’s jeans had a small amount of gunshot residue and traces of blood on them. (Tr. p. 2332:22; R. 2417.) At trial, the State introduced a photograph of Appellant wearing the jeans. (Tr. p. 2129:5-8; R. 2214.) Originally, Appellant was handcuffed in the photo, but the State digitally removed the handcuffs out of the photo using photo-manipulation software. (10/7/13 Pre-Trial Tr. p. 73:20-75:2; R.122-124 .) A law enforcement officer also testified that he personally removed the jeans from Appellant. (Tr. p. 2287:7-25; R. 2372.) Paul Meeh, a forensic scientist for SLED, testified that the blood on the jeans matched the DNA of Appellant and the decedent Jeanine Mullen. (Tr. p. 2364:1-25; R. 2447.)

The State also introduced several photographs of the crime scene at trial. (Tr. p. 1720:22-1724:6; R. 1808-1812.) In one of the photographs, John Doe 1’s birthday cake is visible. (10/7/13 Pre-Trial Tr. p. 83:18-25; R. 132.) The photos, and the testimony of those who first discovered the family, established that there was no forced entry. (Tr. pp. 1719, 1986; R. 1807-2071.)

At trial, the State introduced more circumstantial evidence. In an attempt to place Appellant in the area near the crime scene, the State offered the testimony of Jamelle Simmons, Appellant's roommate. Ultimately, Mr. Simmons gave conflicting testimony concerning Appellant's whereabouts on the day in question. (Tr. pp. 2065, 2072-2081, 2086-2091, 2097-2101; R. 22150, 2157-2176, 2182-2186.) Mr. Simmons testified that he picked Appellant up off the side of the road near the crime scene. (Tr. pp. 2072-2078; R. 2157-2163.) At another point in his testimony, Mr. Simmons claimed that Appellant was attending a race and hung out with friends at various houses on the evening in question. (Tr. pp. 2088-2103; R. 2173-2188.) At one point, Mr. Simmons stated that he only placed Appellant near the crime scene because law enforcement had threatened to charge him as an accessory after the fact. (Tr. p. 2103:6-20; R. 2188.) The State then called Staff Sergeant Jeremiah Fraser to explain the repeated questioning of Mr. Simmons during the investigation. During SSG Fraser's testimony the State asked, "[a]nd was the story he [Mr. Simmons] gave those officers credible?" (Tr. p. 2108:3-5; R. 2193.) SSG Fraser proceeded to testify that he believed Mr. Simmons' original story to law enforcement officials was not credible. (Tr. p. 2108:5, 11, 24; R. 2193.)

Finally, the State called Allen Porter, Jeanine's coworker and friend, to characterize Appellant and Jeanine's relationship as abusive. Ms. Porter testified, among other things, that Jeanine was "terribly afraid" of Appellant. (Tr. p. 2009:1; R. 2094.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate standard of review for questions of law is *de novo*. See *Catawba Indian Tribe of S.C. v. State*, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007) ("We are free to decide a question of law with no particular deference to the circuit court.");

Fresmire v Digh, 385 S.C. 296, 302, 683 S.E.2d 803, 807 (Ct. App. 2008) (“This court reviews all questions of law *de novo*.”). The appellate court will not disturb the trial court’s findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The admission of photographs is within the sound discretion of the trial judge and will only be disturbed upon a showing of an abuse of discretion. *State v. Torres*, 390 S.C. 618, 622-23, 703 S.E.2d 226, 228 (2010). However, when a combination of errors, while individually insignificant,² has the effect of preventing a party from receiving a fair trial, then that party is entitled to a new trial. *State v. Johnson*, 334 S.C. 78, 93, 512 S.E.2d 795, 803 (1999).

ARGUMENT

I. The EMT testimony regarding John Doe 2’s responses was not only hearsay but also violated Appellant’s Confrontation Clause rights.

The trial court committed reversible error when it allowed EMT testimony regarding John Doe 2’s responses to interrogation. This testimony was hearsay that did not fit into any hearsay exception or exclusion. Furthermore, this testimony violated Appellant’s right to confront his accuser. Accordingly, Appellant requests that this Court reverse the decision of the trial court to admit this testimony and remand for a new trial.

At trial the State introduced evidence that Appellant committed the crimes through the testimony of two EMTs concerning what the victim, a 2 year old boy, told them about who committed the crime during transport to the hospital. (Tr. p. 1805:17-1807:18, 1821:8-22; R. 1890-1892, 1906.) Defense counsel objected to the testimony of both EMTs. (Tr. p. 1806:17-1820:14; R. 1891-1905.) The trial court overruled this

² Appellant contends that each argument here is sufficient to reverse; there is no insignificant error in this record. The combination of errors *a fortiori* demonstrates prejudice and mandates a new trial.

objection. (Tr. p. 1806:18-19, 1820:15-16; R. 1891, 1905.) These statements were not only hearsay but the admission of this testimony also denied Appellant his constitutionally-guaranteed right to confront his accuser.

A. The EMT testimony was inadmissible hearsay.

Hearsay is an out of court statement offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted, and is only admissible if the statement falls under an exception to the hearsay rule. *Jackson v. Speed*, 326 S.C. 289, 304, 486 S.E.2d 750, 758 (1997). The hearsay exception for medical treatment can only apply to a victim's statements if the statement is "reasonably pertinent" to medical treatment or diagnosis. Rule 803(4), SCRE; *State v. Burroughs*, 328 S.C. 489, 501, 492 S.E.2d 408, 414 (Ct. App. 1997) (finding that the fact that the defendant asked the victim if he could hug her before committing the crime was in no way reasonably pertinent to the victim's diagnosis or treatment). The "perpetrator's identity would rarely, if ever, be a factor upon which the doctor relied in diagnosing or treating the victim." *State v. Brown*, 286 S.C. 445, 447, 334 S.E.2d 816, 817 (1985); *State v. Camele*, 293 S.C. 302, 305, 360 S.E.2d 307, 308 (1987) (granting new trial where doctor's testimony concerning statement made by victim during medical examination as to the perpetrator's identity could not possibly have assisted the doctor in treating or diagnosing the victim); *accord State v. Hudnall*, 293 S.C. 97, 101, 359 S.E.2d 59, 62 (1987).

John Doe 2's responses to the EMT's questions were not necessary for medical treatment or diagnosis. At the scene of the crime, John Doe 2 was unresponsive. (Tr. p. 1803:5; R. 1888.) The paramedics gave him an IV and treated his wounds in order to stabilize him and transport him to the hospital. (Tr. p. 1804:2-21; R. 1889.) Although

questioning John Doe 2 in an attempt to elicit a response from him could arguably be necessary for treatment, it was unnecessary to discover the identity of the perpetrator in order to treat or diagnose John Doe 2. Neither of the paramedics testified extensively about how they treated John Doe 2. (Tr. p. 1804:2-21, 1818:4-20; R. 1889, 1903.) Rather, the testimony revolved around the EMT's interrogation of John Doe 2 and his response of "Daddy." (Tr. p. 1805:25-1807:20, 1819-1821:13; R. 1888-1892, 1904-1906.) Clearly, the only purpose of asking these questions—coincidentally, also the purpose of their testimony—was offered to prove who committed the crimes. The question, and John Doe 2's response, was not necessary for treatment or diagnosis. Because this testimony was offered to prove who committed the crimes, and does not fit into a hearsay exception, the trial court should have excluded the testimony and sustained Appellant's objection.

Additionally, John Doe 2 could not have testified in his own regard because he was two years old at the time the crime occurred. *See S. Carolina Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Doe*, 292 S.C. 211, 219, 355 S.E.2d 543, 547 (Ct. App. 1987) (stating that in order to be competent to testify a child under fourteen years of age must be able, among other requirements, "to perceive facts accurately through the medium of the senses, [and] to recall them correctly"); *see also State v. Belton*, 24 S.C. 185, 190 (1886) (holding that a twelve-year-old boy was not a competent witness). Since John Doe 2 could not be a competent witness, his out-of-court statement should not enjoy a greater claim to admissibility through a hearsay exception than his in-court testimony would have. Accordingly, the trial court should have excluded the testimony.

B. The admission of the EMT testimony prejudiced Appellant.

The admission of this hearsay testimony prejudiced Appellant. The testimony is the only direct evidence that Appellant committed the crime. No other witness, or evidence, directly placed Appellant at the scene of the crime. Additionally, hearing testimony that a two-year old boy accused his own father of committing these crimes inflames the passions and prejudices of the jurors. Certainly, the jurors understand the love and respect a two-year old child has for a father. To hear a two-year old accuse his own father of a horrible crime—despite the admiration he has for his father—therefore carries significant emotional weight with the jurors. Accordingly, the admission of this hearsay evidence prejudiced Appellant, and he is entitled to a new trial.

C. The admission of the EMT testimony violated Appellant's Confrontation Clause rights.

The EMT testimony also violated Appellant's constitutionally-guaranteed right to confront an adverse witness. The Sixth Amendment provides, in pertinent part, that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him." U.S. Const. amend. VI. In *Crawford v. Washington*, the United States Supreme Court held that the Confrontation Clause was violated by the admission into evidence of a witness's statement to police where the witness did not testify at trial. 541 U.S. 36, 59 (2004). In *Crawford*, the taped statements of the defendant's wife who did not testify were not admissible due to the defendant's Confrontation Clause rights. *Id.* at 68-69. Under the rule established in *Crawford*, the Confrontation Clause allows the admission of "[t]estimonial statements of witnesses absent from trial . . . *only* where the declarant is unavailable, and *only* where the defendant has had a prior opportunity to

cross-examine.” *Id.* at 59 (emphasis added). This rule applies whenever “testimonial evidence is at issue,” though *Crawford* “le[ft] for another day any effort to spell out a comprehensive definition of ‘testimonial.’” *Id.* at 68.

Subsequent Supreme Court decisions have made clear that when statements are made to the agents of the police, then those statements qualify as testimonial, fall within the ambit of *Crawford*, and should be analyzed as if they were made during police interrogation. See, e.g., *Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813, 823 n.2 (2006). While “statements to physicians in the course of receiving treatment,” are non-testimonial, *Giles v. California*, 554 U.S. 353, 376 (2008), the fact that a statement is made to a medical professional does not automatically qualify the statements as non-testimonial when the statements are not related to treatment. See, e.g. *State v. Ortega*, 175 P.3d 929, 935 (N.M. Ct. App. 2007) (holding that a child’s statements to a sexual assault nurse examiner were testimonial; the child’s medical needs were “not the primary object” of the nurse’s examination and “were secondary to its purpose of gathering evidence”). The identity of the perpetrator of a crime is almost never necessary for medical treatment. See *State v. Camele*, 293 S.C. 302, 305, 360 S.E.2d 307, 308 (1987); *State v. Hudnall*, 293 S.C. 97, 101, 359 S.E.2d 59, 62 (1987); *State v. Brown*, 286 S.C. 445, 447, 334 S.E.2d 816, 817 (1985). Statements made to medical professionals for evidence gathering purposes are, therefore, testimonial and subject to *Crawford*.

Here, the purpose of the EMTs questioning was to obtain evidence, not treat the patient. John Doe 2’s response of “Daddy” was passed on to law enforcement personnel. (Tr. p. 1807:2-4; R. 1892.) The State never asked for, nor offered, an explanation for why the EMTs required the information about the perpetrator of the crime. Certainly, the

information was not necessary to stabilize John Doe 2 and transport him to the hospital. The only reason the EMTs wanted to know the identity of the perpetrator was to pass the information on to law enforcement. At that time the EMTs became the agents of the police. Thus, the statement is testimonial and is barred under *Crawford* since John Doe 2 did not testify. Accordingly, Appellant is entitled to a new trial.

II. The trial court allowed a witness for the State to impermissibly comment on the credibility of another witness.

During the trial, one of the State's witnesses, Mr. Simmons, gave conflicting testimony concerning Appellant's activities and demeanor on the day of the crime. (Tr. pp. 2065, 2072-2081, 2086-2091, 2097-2101; R. 2150, 2157-2166, 2171-2176, 2182-2186.) This is consistent with the conflicting information which Simmons gave law enforcement officials during their investigation of the crime. (Tr. pp. 2101-2105; R. 2186-2188.) Specifically, he originally told officers that he never picked Appellant up from the side of the road near the crime scene. (Tr. pp. 2101-2103; R. 2186-2188.) Only after being threatened with the possibility of being charged as an accessory after the fact, he later told law enforcement officials that he did in fact pick up Appellant on the side of the road near the crime scene. (Tr. p. 2103:6-20; R. 2188.) The State then called Staff Sergeant Jeremiah Fraser to explain why Mr. Simmons was questioned again. During SSG Fraser's testimony the State asked, "[a]nd was the story he [Mr. Simmons] gave those officers credible?" (Tr. p. 2108:3-5; R. 2193.) Appellant objected to this line of questioning and was overruled. (Tr. p. 2108:15-19; R. 2193.) SSG Fraser proceeded to testify that he believed Mr. Simmons' original story to law enforcement officials was not credible. (Tr. p. 2108:5, 11, 24; R. 2193.)

The credibility of a witness is an assessment within the exclusive province of the jury. *State v. Kromah*, 401 S.C. 340, 358, 737 S.E.2d 490, 499-500 (2013). Therefore, witnesses are not allowed to testify whether another witness is telling the truth. *Id*; see also *Burgess v. State*, 329 S.C. 88, 91, 495 S.E.2d 445, 447 (1998) (holding it is improper “pitting” to ask a witness “to comment on the truthfulness . . . of an adverse witness”); *State v. Sapps*, 295 S.C. 484, 485-86, 369 S.E.2d 145, 145-46 (1988) (holding it was improper for the State to “ask[] appellant if each of the other three witnesses was lying”). These principles are incorporated into Rule 608(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, which provides that opinion evidence regarding credibility “may refer only to character for truthfulness or untruthfulness,” and “evidence of truthful character is admissible only after the character of the witness for truthfulness has been attacked by opinion or reputation evidence or otherwise.” Rule 608(a), SCRE.

The trial court improperly allowed a witness for the State to comment on the credibility of another witness. Mr. Simmons gave two different accounts of Appellant’s activities and demeanor on the day in question. Appellant demonstrated the reason for the two different accounts was the threat by law enforcement officials of charging Mr. Simmons as an accessory after the fact. (Tr. p. 2103:6-20; R. 2188.) The State sought to demonstrate that the first account of the day in question was not true. To accomplish this, the State specifically asked a witness to comment on the credibility of Mr. Simmons testimony, which is not permitted under South Carolina law. *Burgess*, 329 S.C. at 91, 495 S.E.2d at 447; *Sapps*, 295 S.C. at 485-86, 369 S.E.2d at 145-46. The jury alone is allowed to determine which portions of Mr. Simmons’ testimony to believe.

Allowing SSG Fraser to comment on the testimony prejudiced Appellant by taking the determination of the credibility of Mr. Simmons out of the exclusive province of the jury. The jury decides whether to believe Mr. Simmons' testimony, in full or in part. The State directly influenced that determination by asking another witness give an opinion on Mr. Simmons' credibility. Additionally, this opinion was that Mr. Simmons' testimony that Appellant was not near the crime scene is not true, and due to this prejudice, Appellant is entitled to a new trial.

III. Testimony that one of the victims was afraid of appellant was not relevant, and, therefore, should have been excluded.

During Appellant's trial, Ms. Porter, Jeanine's coworker and friend, testified that Jeanine was "terribly afraid" of Appellant. (Tr. p. 2009:1; R. 2094.) Appellant objected to this testimony. (Tr. p. 1942:16-1944:4; R. 2027.) There are two instances where the victim's fear of a defendant is relevant: (1) when the defendant claims self-defense; and (2) when the defendant claims the victim died as the result of an accident. Appellant did not assert either possibility as a defense, so the victim's fear of Appellant was not relevant.

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