STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

FEB 08 2016

Appeal from Beaufort County
Carmen Tevis Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent,

v.

EARNEST STEWART DAISE,

Appellant

Appellate Case No. 2013-002394

**AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT AND
DESIGNATION OF MATTER**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5758

South Carolina Attorney General's Office
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
803-734-6305

ISAAC McDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit
P. O. Box 1880

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

Porter also described hearing an argument while she was on the telephone with Mullen after Mullen failed to hang up the telephone after Porter’s conversation ended. The victim and Daise were arguing with profanities. Porter heard Daise tell Jeanine Mullen:

“Bitch, you don’t know who you’re messing with. I will fuck you and your kids up. I will kill you. I will kill you and your kids” or something to that effect. Tr.p. 2010, l. 2-6. Porter testified the argument continued and she eventually hung up the telephone. Tr.p. 2010, l. 6-9.¹⁶

ANALYSIS

Rule 803(3) allows hearsay testimony if the testimony is in the form of a statement as to

¹⁵ Frank Mullen, the victim’s father had testified before Alleen Porter. Tr.p. 1979-1996. Like Porter, he testified his daughter could not deal with Daise anymore and that she was afraid of him. In addition, he testified that she told him around that weekend that she was going to get rid of him and go back to school. Tr.p. 1995-1996.

¹⁶ In the state’s guilt phase closing argument, Solicitor Stone did not specifically reference the testimony about Jeanine Mullen being “terribly afraid” but did state that she had moments of clarity that she shared with family and friends that she knew she was afraid and that she was done with him. Tr.p, 2455. See Tr.p. 2455-2472. However, he then referred to the contrasting message presented by the defense (Defense Exhibit 15 – text messages) to suggest that she wanted friendship from him and that it revealed that he wanted her as property. In the defense closing, the defense used the same exhibit to suggest that there was a volatile relationship, but the messages revealed an intimate relationship at the time. Tr.p. 2481, 2483- p. 2484, l. 13. More precisely, defense counsel urged that “they want you to believe that Jeanine was afraid of Earnest” and urged the jury to read Defense Exhibit 15 and characterized it as “this is not a woman who is afraid, or a man suggesting he’s unhappy to be in her company.” Tr.p. 2490, l. 4-8.

the declarant's then existing state of mind or emotions; the rule excludes the testimony, however, if it is purely a recitation of facts. SCRE 803(3).¹⁷ The rationale for Rule 803(3) has been explained as follows:

[T]here is a fair necessity, for lack of other better evidence, for resorting to a person's own contemporary statements of his mental or physical condition" and that such statements are more trustworthy than the declarant's in-court testimony. Mere statements of fact, however, are provable by other means and they are not inherently trustworthy.

State v. Hardy, 339 N.C. 207, 229, 451 S.E.2d 600, 612 (1994) (quoting 6 John H. Wigmore, Evidence § 1714 (1976)). Statements of emotion include, for example, "I'm frightened" or "I'm angry." *Id.*¹⁸ Courts have further clarified that testimony that recites *both emotions and facts* falls within the scope of the 803(3) exception. State v. Marecek, 130 N.C.App. 303, 306, 502 S.E.2d 634, 636 (1998). This is because "factual circumstances surrounding [the declarant's] statements of emotion serve only to demonstrate the basis for the emotions." State v. Gray, 347 N.C. 143, 173, 491 S.E.2d 538, 550 (1997).¹⁹ Courts have created a sort of trichotomy in applying Rule 803(3). Statements that recite only emotions are admissible under the exception; statements that recite emotions and the facts underlying those emotions are likewise admissible; but statements that merely recite facts do not fall within the exception.

¹⁷ SCRE Rule 803 (3) does not exclude as hearsay the following:

(3) Then Existing Mental, Emotional, or Physical Condition. A statement of the declarant's then existing state of mind, emotion, sensation, or physical condition (such as intent, plan, motive, design, mental feeling, pain, and bodily health), but not including a statement of memory or belief to prove the fact remembered or believed unless it relates to the execution, revocation, identification, or terms of declarant's will.

¹⁸ See also cases collected in Jay M. Zitter, Annotation, *Admissibility of evidence of declarant's then-existing mental, emotional, or physical condition, under Rule 803(3) of Uniform Rules of Evidence and similar formulations*, 57 A.L.R.5th 141 (1998), § 3[a] ("Showing fear of defendant or accomplices harming victim or family—Statement held admissible under Rule 803(3)").

¹⁹ The court in State v. Gray, *supra.*, held that the victim's statements that she was afraid for her life and factual circumstances surrounding such statements were admissible in a capital-murder prosecution under the state-of-mind exception to the hearsay rule, Rule 803(3) and distinguished State v. Hardy, 339 N.C. 207, 451 S.E.2d 600 (1994).

In South Carolina, the Weston and Garcia opinions illustrate our courts approach. Particularly in Weston, the Court rejected the assertion that Rule 803(3) and Garcia require a holding that a witness may testify to the fact that the decedent was afraid, but not that the decedent was afraid of the defendant. Instead, the decision in Weston held that **“the victim’s state of mind-that she was scared of appellant-was relevant ...”** and evidence about the victim’s state of mind to not touch anything because the victim was afraid of the defendant and was more nervous and anxious. Weston, 367 S.C. at 288287088, 625 S.E.2d at 646. In Garcia, the Court found error in the admission of evidence beyond that the victim had fear which included evidence that the victim had told her grandmother that the defendant had kicked her causing a bruise and that the defendant had told the victim that if she ever left him that he would kill her. The Court held that the *reason* for the declarant’s state of mind was not admissible.²⁰ Applying Rule 803(3) in Weston, the Court held that the State was properly allowed to present evidence testimony that the victim, Weston's mother, was afraid of Weston because this testimony did not give a reason for the victim's fear where the victim’s body had never been found. Id at 287-88, 625 S.E.2d at 645-46.8

Here, no hearsay evidence of the particular “reason” why Jeanine was “terribly afraid” was admitted. Instead, other than an unchallenged declaration against interest by Appellant, the only evidence presented was Jeanine Mullen’s being terribly afraid to support the relevant evidence that she intended to end the relationship with Appellant. See State v. Simko, 71 Ohio

²⁰ In Garcia, the Court explained that statements concerning the victim’s state of mind under Rule 803(3) “are considered trustworthy because ‘they are based on unique perception; that is, the declarant has a unique perspective into [her] own feelings and emotions.’ . . . Statements may either directly or circumstantially show the declarant’s state of mind, emotion, or physical condition.” 334 S.C. at 75-76, 512 S.E.2d at 509 (citations omitted).

St. 3d 483, 644 N.E.2d 345 (1994).²¹ The reasons for those fears and concerns were not admitted - just the fear itself. The State did not introduce or seek to introduce the basis - reason - for the belief which were witnessed by Porter concerning alleged injuries and statements by Jeanine as to the reason for her fears.

Here, there was no hearsay evidence presented about other acts of Earnest Daise that caused the particular fears that the victim had. Instead, the evidence was only that she was going to end the relationship and of being afraid of Appellant. Under Rule 803(3), through Garcia and Weston, this limited evidence of being afraid was admissible as “then existing state of mind, emotion, sensation, or physical condition (such as intent, plan, motive, design, mental feeling, pain, and bodily health).” Further in Weston, the case involved a victim who was never found. Here, the victim was found. The fear evidence contrasted and placed in context the existing nature of their relationship, especially probative in light of the inconsistent text messages.

The Probative Value of the “Terribly Afraid” Evidence Was Not Substantially Outweighed By Danger of Unfair Prejudice.

“Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” Rule 403, SCRE. The question then should be limited to whether the prejudicial value substantially outweighs the probative value. Plainly the probative value outweighed the prejudicial effect. During the case, the defense put into evidence

²¹In State v. Simko, 71 Ohio St. 3d 483, 644 N.E.2d 345 (1994), a prosecution for murder and related crimes, the court held that the trial court did not err in allowing the testimony of a long-time friend of the victim that she was with the victim the night before her death and that the victim told the witness that she was “really scared” of the appellant. The court explained that Ohio Evid.R. 803(3), the state-of-mind exception to the hearsay rule, allows evidence that the declarant was afraid but does not allow as evidence the reasons why the declarant was afraid, so that this testimony was, therefore, admissible under the hearsay exception. Additionally, the court reasoned, the testimony was arguably relevant and therefore admissible to the question whether the appellant was distraught or was following the victim the night before her kidnapping and murder and to the issue of prior calculation and design. Moreover, the court added, any error in admitting the testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and, given the weight of evidence against the appellant, there was no reasonable possibility that any evidence violation contributed to the appellant’s conviction.

a series of text messages to reflect the relationship with Appellant was on-going, although it was tumultuous. See Defense Exhibit 15. Tr.p. 2231. Also, Tr.p. 2481, 2490 (defense Closing Argument Comments on the Text Messages Between Daise and the Victim). Cumulative evidence from the victim's father was also presented without objection that his daughter intended to leave the Appellant, in addition to being afraid of him. Tr.p. 1995. This reflected the proper course of their relationship and modified his position that he was her boyfriend.

Any Error in the Admission of the Victim Being “Terribly Afraid” Was Harmless in Light of the Appellant’s Admitted Statement of Threatening to Kill the Victim And Her Family.

Assuming the admission of the evidence was improperly admitted, any error in its admission was harmless. The challenged evidence only goes to victim state of mind as being “terribly afraid” of the Appellant. Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case. *See State v. Page*, 378 S.C. 476, 483-84, 663 S.E.2d 357, 360 (Ct.App.2008). “No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.” *State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985). In considering whether error is harmless, a case’s particular facts must be considered along with various factors including: the importance of the witness’ testimony in the prosecution’s case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and the overall strength of the prosecution’s case. *State v. Page*, supra.

The general comment about the victim being terribly afraid has limited prejudicial effect. First the trial judge recognized this in her assessment. Tr.p. 1943. Further, the unchallenged in the appeal and properly admitted evidence of Appellant’s expressed malice toward the victim

and her family and specific intent to kill makes the limited testimony if error, harmless error. The Appellant's statement that "'Bitch, you don't know who you're messing with. I will fuck you and your kids up. I will kill you. I will kill you and your kids,'" (Tr.p. 2010, 1. 2-6) cures any potential error concerning the victim being terribly afraid.²² State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 132, 606 S.E.2d 508, 516 (Ct.App.2004) ("The determination of prejudice depends upon the unique circumstances of each case.").

Further, the Appellant is not challenging on appeal the admission of similar evidence from the victim's father that his daughter was afraid of the Appellant. Tr.p. 1995, 1. 23- p. 1996, 1. 3. This failure to challenge similar evidence should act as a waiver in this appeal as to the Porter comment on "terribly afraid" when the father's earlier testimony about the victim's fear of Daise is not raised. See State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445 (2003) (recognizing admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence); State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993) (same); State v. Johnson, 298 S.C. 496, 498, 381 S.E.2d 732, 733 (1989) (same).

In addition, harmless error from the "terribly afraid" comment exists due to the strength of the inculpatory evidence presented against Daise. The Appellant's blood was found on the doorframe of the room at the Simmons trailer, his blood and Jeanine's blood were found on the jeans he was wearing that day, and there was a fresh cut on his hand the night of his

²² This statement by Earnest Daise was admissible as non-hearsay under SCRE Rule 801(d)(2) as an admission by a party opponent. Under Rule 801(d)(2), SCRE, an admission by a party-opponent is not hearsay "if the statement is offered against a party and is (A) the party's own statement in either an individual or a representative capacity ..." Accordingly, appellant's earlier statement heard by the witness was not hearsay pursuant to Rule 801(d)(2) and the trial court did not err in admitting it. State v. Tucker, 334 S.C. 1, 12-13, 512 S.E.2d 99, 105 (1999). This was admissible evidence of the prior direct threat against the victim and shows motive, identity and intent to kill. See Blakely v. State, 360 S.C. 636, 639, 602 S.E.2d 758, 759 (2004) (holding evidence of prior threats against a defendant's girlfriend was admissible to show intent); State v. Atkins, 303 S.C. 214, 220, 399 S.E.2d 760, 763 (1990) (finding evidence of a defendant's prior difficulties with a victim's family concerning racial differences was relevant to prove motive); State v. Plyler, 275 S.C. 291, 296, 270 S.E.2d 126, 128 (1980) (holding evidence of a verbal argument between the defendant and victim that occurred three days before the murder was admissible to show motive). There is no issue presented in the appeal challenging the introduction of Daise's statement of intent and express malice.

arrest. The surviving child's commented that "Daddy" did it. There were texts between the Appellant and the victim reflecting the ongoing problems in their relationship and the reference to the Appellant as "E-dub" or Dub (Defense Exhibit 15) or "E" (Tr.p. 1993) to explain the child's comments to the paramedics. Appellant made false statements that he was not at the home the prior day (Tr.p. 2002-03) and proven false statements that he was not in the white van that date when a photograph shows he had the van at the Dobbs B.P. gas station that day, (2018-19, 2021), Appellant also made malicious comments to the victim around the time she was trying to get the van back on the telephone stating: "who the fuck do you think you are talking to" (that Michael Wilson overheard while the Appellant was at Eddie's Disco at dusk the day of the murder) (Tr.p. 2024, I. 9-11), There was evidence that Daise was picked up by Simmons that day in an area Appellant had falsely claimed to law enforcement he had not been. Further, there was no evidence of a forced entry into the victim's home and nothing was stolen counteracting the defense suggestion that there had been burglaries in the area. Finally, there was the failure of the Appellant to attend to his wounded child at the hospital.

Respondent respectfully submits that a new trial is not warranted by this admissible evidence.

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